
70 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX MMH 

Historic Maps 
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MMH1. The 1870 Map shows Fitzroy House shortly before its demolition for the construction of 
Caen Wood Towers. The access from Hampstead Lane was close to the Gate House, with Caen 
Cottage to the west. 
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MMH2. The 1900 Map shows Caen Wood Towers at its full extent, with its important garden 
features. The principal access from Hampstead Lane has now been moved eastwards beyond 
the new stable block and lodge. It is unclear whether the 1870 access had been completely 
closed off.  
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MMH3. The 1935 Map shows that some of the glasshouses on the north of Caen Wood Towers 
have been demolished and a substantial northeast wing has been built. The Guthrie/Jekyll 

formal garden and lower steps are in place. The access from Hampstead Lane has now 

been moved to the position it remains in today, serving Athlone House, Caenwood 

Court and the converted stable block. 
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MMH4 and 5. Ordnance Survey based plans of estate from the 1881 and 1909/10 Sale 

particulars highlight the picturesque qualities of the garden layout. There are apparently 
access points from Hampstead Lane both east and west of the stable block. The upper plan 
(1881) shows a clump of trees between the old gate house access and Caen Cottage. 
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APPENDIX MMJ 

Archive photographs: 

Camden Local Studies and Archives Centre 
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 Presentation photographs (CLSL, 080179/1-15) 
 

MMJ1 These photographs were apparently taken about 1874-80 during the occupancy of Edward 
Brooke, presented to James Ashbury MP (sat 1874-1880, which provides date range).  They 
are briefly described in the Standing Building Assessment (SBA).  They are photographs of 
excellent quality, prints about 11x 8½ inches.  Their importance is as a qualitative benchmark 
against which the subsequent decline of the building may be measured.  The notes below are 
supplementary to the brief comments in the SBA.  The Reference numbers are those of 
Camden Local Studies.  

 
 

MMJ2 081079/3 This view clearly shows the porte cochere against the tower.  Detail appears clear 

and relatively crisp, though some staining of the stonework is already evident, and there 
appears to be some erosion of the heraldic beasts (? Bears, with staffs?); there was also a 

porcupine above the centre of the strapwork that contained the armorial shield.  The detail of 
the gable copings shows that they had a roll moulded projection, which should have reduced 
deterioration.  The banded fishscale and plain tiling of the roof shows up clearly.  To the right, 
part of a chimney shows that it had ornamental shafts of elaborately moulded brick.   There 
were elaborate square section eaves gutters with zig-zag ornament discharging into 

ornamented rainwater hopper heads, with square section downpipes.  All the upper lights of 
the first floor windows had ornamental leaded glazing of ‘bottle glass’ discs set against a 
rectangular grid.  The ground floor windows had trefoil cusped heads, with ornamental leaded 
lattice, grid and disc pattern glazing throughout.  Growth of ivy over the building was evidently 

being encouraged, with some applied trelliswork panels. 



77 

 

 
 
MMJ3  080179/4 This view shows the west terrace, looking north towards the 

pavilion, obliquely along the west elevation of the house.  The SBA description is quite full.  
This photograph provides detailed evidence for important missing features, including the gable 
copings and rainwater goods.  The gabled bay window above the Dining Room appears from 
its light moulded sections to have been built in timber, not stonework, and was set well back 
from the rectangular bay of the dining room below, to which it was linked by a low pitch 
hipped gablet roof covered with fishscale tiles.  The Dining Room window, which interrupted 
the run of the loggia, had cusped upper lights.  The recessed study window beneath the loggia 

had an elaborately moulded surround, as did the twin leaf garden doors, glazed in plate glass. 
The baluster supports for the loggia were timber, square lower section with incisions, bobbin 
moulded centre, with inverted tapered colonettes and Ionic caps.  Bracketed eaves suppports, 
with curved braces.  The bedroom balcony had an oriental character, with bobbin pattern 
balusters, bobbin pattern shafts, supporting a full width glazed upper light, with grid and disc 
pattern leaded glazing, and a projecting eaves supported on cut profiled brackets.  In the 
distance can be seen the flank of the conservatory, and the now totally destroyed pavilion, 

with its double cupola roof. 
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MMJ4. 0800179/5 This view shows the house from the lower garden, looking towards 
the west elevation.  Much of the detail of the south corner and return elevation is obscured 

by trees.  However, it can be seen that there were projecting gargoyles below the 
crenellations of the upper stair turret above parapet level of the tower, and that heraldic 
beasts bearing flag standards stood on the square corner plinths of the tower parapet.  The 
pierced stonework parapet above the right hand canted first floor bay is visible.  The 
elaborate detail of the shafted chimneys is visible in a generalised way.  The pent rooflight 

of the picture gallery is just visible above its crenellated parapet.  Other details are as 

described above. 

 
MMJ5. The remaining photographs show interiors and are a record of what has been 
lost. 080179/6 shows the Dining Room, where the elaborate fireplace and sideboard have 
long since disappeared, together with the panelled dado, cornice and the elaborate 
moulded ceiling beams (although the boarding above survives). 
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MMJ6. 080179/7 shows the Hall, looking across from the staircase recess.  The 
hooded fireplace, panelled Drawing Room door, pilaster, polished Granite column and 
heavy beamed ceiling were all removed in a later remodelling. The corbel blocks are 
glimpsed. 

 
MMJ7. 080179/10 shows the ante-hall looking into the main hall.  Although the layout 
survives, the screen was much simplified in the 1920s.  None of the decoration (somewhat 
in the style of Christopher Dresser) survives.   All panelling of main hall was stripped – 
some of bracketed ceiling remains.  The window looking into the inner area evidently had 
stained glass inserts, and cusped heads. 



80 

 

 
MMJ8  080179/8 shows the Drawing Room looking into the recess.  This was later 
blocked.  All the decorative features, including the elaborate cornice, and cusped panelled 
ceiling, with mini pendants, were swept away in a 1920s redecoration. 

 
MMJ9 080179/12 shows the Drawing Room looking east, with the original recess at 
left.  Virtually everything seen here, including the fireplace, cornice and ceiling has been 

destroyed: see notes on 8 above. 
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MMJ10 080179/9 shows the Billiard Room.  Architecturally the feature of greatest interest is 
the 5 light mullioned window, with panelled reveals and fitted seat below.  The cusped trefoil 
headed top lights had patterned leaded glass with pictorial roundels.  The lower lights had 
lozenges of pictorial glass to and bottom showing animals and birds subjected to field sports – 

hunting, shooting and fishing – shown in the main rectangular lights.  The style of the figures 

is of Arts and Crafts character.  The moulded inner window frame is hardwood.  The large 
billiard table and gasolier in the foreground are long gone. 

 

 
MMJ11 080179/11 shows the Morning Room.  This was opened out into the hall by 

Francis Cory Wright (see below), and later gutted to provide sanitary facilities for the 
hospital.  All decorative features of significance appear to have been destroyed. 
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MMJ12 080179/13 shows the Picture Gallery looking south towards entry from house.  
A toplit space from the pent glazed rooflight visible on 5.  This room appears to have been 
almost totally destroyed.   

 
MMJ13 080179/14 shows the same room looking north into the Conservatory.  The 
arch itself is exposed on the north elevation, following demolition of the later extensions for 
the hospital use. 
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MMJ14 080179/15 shows a view in the Conservatory, looking north away from the Picture 
Gallery.  The arched structure of cast iron is visible through the planting.  This feature 

survived WW2 and was finally demolished about 1952/3. 

 

 
 

MMJ15 The 080180/1-12 photographs were presumably taken at the same date 

showing the grounds.  However there is a glimpse of the west front on 080180/10, 
important as it shows, albeit at a distance, the number of chimneys was impressive, even 
on the rear of the house, where the service rooms and servants’ accommodation was 
located.  Some stacks had up to six shafts. 
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MMJ16 Likewise 080180/11 shows how important the picturesque roofline of the west 
front was in context, building up through the gables, to the chimneystacks, and culminating 
in the crenellated tower, and flag turret. 

 

 
MMJ17 080180/9 Rustic Bridge and Dingle. The gardens contained a wealth of picturesque 

features; many no longer survive.
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APPENDIX MMK 

Archive photographs: 

London Metropolitan Archives 
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The following photographs are from the London Metropolitan Archives.   

 

The first sequence shows four views from Hampstead Lane, looking east 

towards the house.  These were taken in 1934.  The first two show the tower 

rising over the trees to the east of Kenwood, taken from an unknown elevated 

viewpoint.  The second pair show different views from just outside the walled 

boundary to the house.  The conservatory with its glazed barrel vault is 

clearly visible, and the top of the glasshouses can be seen above the north 

end wall of the service courtyard.  Clearance of the glasshouses (but not the 

conservatory) must have occurred shortly afterwards as they are not shown 

on the 1935/6 Ordnance Survey Map revision. 

LMA SC/PHL HAMPSTEAD LANE 

 

The second sequence shows four views from the ridge east of Kenwood 

House, looking towards Caen Wood Towers, from a series of panoramic views 

taken in 1933.  These give glimpses of the tower, gables, chimneys and 

roofscape of the house, and indicate how important these features were in 

distant views.  There are also views of the model farm buildings and parts of 

the west gardens. 

LMA SC/PHL/02/1115 48.1 KENWOOD GENERAL 
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APPENDIX MML 

1881 sales prospectus: 

Camden Local Studies and Archives Centre 
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Camden Ref 89.3 HAM  Caen Wood Towers : 
The 1881 Sale Particulars 

 

 
 

 
 

MML1, 2 Illustration of Caen Wood Towers and title page from 1881 

sale particulars 
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MML3. Plan from 1881 sale brochure 
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MML4, 5 Descriptions of Reception Rooms 
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MML6. Description of Dining Room and Picture Gallery  

(Illustration MML7 below) 
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MML8. The file contains two bound sales particulars, the first being the 
Auctioneer’s particulars from Edwin Fox and Bousefield, offering the 

property for sale at The Mart, Tokenhouse Yard, Bank of England on 
Wed. 22 June 1881 at 2pm. precisely.  Usual estate agent’s puff in the 

description.  The particulars include the coloured engraving of the view 
from the south west, and the coloured ground floor plan.   The 
brochure was illustrated by photographs, some of which find their 

equivalents in the presentation set reviewed in Appendix MMJ above.  
 

 
 

MML9. Outer and inner Entrance Halls showing original screen 
 This view of the entrance hall beneath the porte cochere shows the 

original triple arched screen in full and affirms that the marble floor is 
original. Beyond, the details of the main Hall are indistinct, but the 

coffered ceiling beams are well caught in reflected light. The Drawing 
Room recess can be glimpsed beyond, also the west doors to the 
garden, with their cusped top lights.  The stained glass windows had 

lights representing the four seasons.  Carving, including the capital of 
the columns supporting the first floor, was by George Durham, B 

Phillips, and Calder Marshall.  The staircase led to a music gallery on a 
landing, complete with organ, the windows here and on the staircase 
having stained glass panels on the legend of Una and the Red Cross 

Knight and Aesop’s Fables.  These are possibly Morris & Co. subjects, 
but he is not mentioned by name. (The Builder credits Heaton, Butler 

and Bayne). 
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MML10. The principal bedrooms were accessed from the gallery/landing, the 

Principal Guest Chamber in the south east corner, with Gentleman’s dressing 

room and bath adjacent; The Antique or Elizabethan Room was over the 

porch; the Oriel bedroom was above the Morning room.  A ‘recherche’ suite of 

State Apartments was on the west, the Grand Guest Chamber on the south 

west corner, with a Boudoir adjacent with a ceiling painting of The Three 

Graces, and a Dressing Room, with bath and w.c. opening on to the 

verandah/balcony.  The west corridor included the South bedroom, bathroom, 

housemaid’s room, Young Ladies’ bedroom, and ladies’ maids’ room.  Down 

four steps were Day and Night nurseries, a box room and an Eastern 

Chamber, the Blue Room (over the library), and another bedroom.  The 

second floor back contained the servants’ bedrooms.  The two tower 

bedrooms appear to have been guest rooms. 
 

MML11. The Ground Floor reception rooms opened off the reception hall.  The 

Morning Room was ‘really a gem’ with alcove, and upper windows having 

stained glass of The Four Seasons (another Morris possibility), antique 

Cordova leather wall coverings, a walnut dado and a chimneypiece of walnut 

and ebony (all now destroyed).  (See Illustration in MMJ above)  The Library 

was on the east, with a finely carved bookcase.  It was followed by a 

Gentleman’s Room with lavatories, wc., boot cupboard and gun cases.  The 

Billiard Room in the south east corner had the stained glass window panels 

with scenes of hunting, coursing, fishing, shooting and boating glimpsed in 

the presentation photographs. (See MMJ)  The ceiling and dado were of 

carved woodwork. The Study was ‘truly a choice little sanctum’, off the 

corridor leading to the Dining Room, with a carved oak bookcase and pine 

ceiling.  The Dining and Drawing Rooms were connected by an axial corridor.  

The former had a carved and gilded oak chimneypiece and ceiling. (See 

Illustration in MMJ) There was a Fernery with fountains in the open area 

behind the Picture Gallery, with the latter leading to ‘The Beauteous 

Conservatory’, 80 feet long; Illustration MML12 below.   
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MML13. The Drawing Room (Illustration above) had hand painted walls ‘in 

delicate tints’, a fireplace of ebony and marble, with ornamentation by Calder 

Marshall and ceiling panels with raised mouldings and embossments between.  

The photograph of this room has its equivalent in the presentation set 

(080179/12), which has much the same furniture but in a different 

arrangement, which suggests they were contemporary.  There follows a 

description of the domestic offices (now largely demolished) and grounds.  

The latter are illustrated by photographs, which have their equivalents in the 

second batch of presentation photographs.  A plan of the estate gives the 

main features of the gardens, which were in the picturesque tradition: 

Illustration MML14 (next page).  
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APPENDIX MMM 

1909 sales prospectus: 

Camden Local Studies and Archives Centre 
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MMM1.  Ivy-clad east front and MMM2, below, west front and conservatory 
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MMM3  The Second sale brochure dates from 1909/10 and was prepared by 

Robert W. Mann of 12 Lower Grosvenor Place, for the executors of Sir Francis Cory-

Wright.  This includes detailed particulars, and a number of photographs, which 

make for useful comparison with the c1880 set, and also with the present depleted 

state of the house.  The growth of ivy across the major facades makes detailed 

comparison difficult.  However, from the view of the East Front (frontispiece of the 

brochure) it is evident that the ornamental glazing from the lower lights of the 

Billiard Room bay window had been removed.  This room had become the Morning 

Room – see interior description.  The beasts on the corners of the porte cochere 

parapet had been removed – otherwise little difference from the 1880 view.  The 

photograph of the West Front includes all the features from 1881, but now heavily 

ivy clad so that detail, for example of the loggia, is virtually impossible to interpret.  

The South Front is also heavily clad in ivy, even the projecting circular recess, which 

suggests that it had not been all that recently been built.  
 

 
 
MMM4. South front showing circular pavilion extension at left. Ivy obscures balcony 

details. 
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MMM5. Inner Hall showing arched opening to former Morning Room 

 
MMM6  The interior description begins with a photograph of the Inner Hall, 

with the screen to the outer Hall in the background.  This room had been opened out 

by an arched arcade into the area of the former Morning Room on the South front.  

This feature is now described as a deep Alcove off the Central Hall ‘… commanding 

fine views over the grounds in several directions’…and ‘approached from the Inner 

Hall through wide semi-circular archways with marble columns’.  The Drawing Room 

had also been redecorated with ‘very handsome and superbly hand painted panels of 

roses’.  It is difficult to be certain whether the present decorative scheme had been 

put in place, but I feel that this is unlikely.  However, the ‘copper domed alcove’ had 

already been built.  There was also ‘a handsome dog stove in white and gilt tiled 

recess with white decorated tiled hearth’, which is nothing like that described in the 

1881 prospectus.    
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 MMM7  The Morning Room was the Billiard Room of the 1881 prospectus.  Its 

leaded light pictorial glass of sports and games are mentioned but do not appear on 

the photograph. (Could this refer to the top lights, which appear to have been 

retained?)  
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MMM8  The ‘Baronial Dining Room’ (Illustration above) appears much as 

before in the photograph, but the chandeliers have been electrified (there is now 

electric light throughout the house) and the fern grotto adjoining is described as ‘an 

unique feature’: there is now Arts and Crafts leaded glass in the cusped top lights of 

the glazed doorways leading to it.  The ‘full sized billiard room’ is now in the picture 

gallery, and in fact the room has been widened to accommodate the table and the 

long button back settee.  The Winter Garden looks much as the Conservatory did in 

1881.  The Library description is also similar, as is that of the Gentleman’s Cloak 

Room.   
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MMM9. The Billiard Room in the enlarged former Picture Gallery 

 
MMM10.   The description of the Grand Oak Principal staircase now credits 

the design of the windows to Morris, although he is not mentioned in connection with 

the windows of the Spacious First Floor Hall.  The Boudoir Bedroom is opposite, with 

a mosaic floored balcony.  The single, oriel, bedroom came next westward.  The 

‘Best Bed Room’ was that in the south west corner with en suite Lady’s Dressing or 

Single Bedroom adjoining.  The Gentleman’s Dressing Room contained its own 

bathroom and opened out on to the Verandah.  The Principal Guest Bedroom 

appeared to be the next northward on the west front, with twin bays and adjacent 

bed or dressing room.  The Principal Bedroom over the porte cochere had white 
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enamelled mantel and overmantel, suggesting that here (and elsewhere) the heavy 

Victorian fittings had been ousted. It also had a communicating bed/dressing room, 

created within the overall space (?).  The Secondary Guest’s Suite had sitting, bed 

and bath rooms, followed by small and large bedrooms and another bath room with 

linen room adjoining.  The servants’ bedrooms at the rear were little changed in 

description since 1881, but those in the Tower were now described as for servants.  

The domestic offices appear to have been upgraded somewhat – most are now 

demolished.  The grounds are described in detail and still include the Model Farm.      

 

MMM11  It is evident, both from the descriptions of the interior, and by 

detailed analysis of the few photographs included in the prospectus that there had 

been detailed updating, and sometimes more than that, over the nearly three 

decades between the presentation photographs and the 1881 prospectus, and that 

for 1909/10.  The references to fashionable decorators material such as Lincrusta are 

copious, and many rooms had been lightened by the use of white enamelled paint, 

and more contemporary fireplaces, with slow combustion or gas stoves.  Technically, 

the house had been updated with electric light and national telephone service.  It is 

frustrating that, from the description, it is difficult to be conclusive as to how 

extensively the Drawing Room had been altered.  The opening out of the former 

Morning Room into the Hall was perhaps the most radical internal alteration, but it 

did not impact upon the exterior, which remains virtually identical between the two 

sets of photographs, with the obvious exception of the circular projection on the 

South Front.   

 

MMM12 Sale of the property was not quick.  The ephemera file 89.3 HAM 

contains a feature from the Estates Gazette dated 28 August 1909, while an attached 

letter 0f 30 March 1910 from Mann, the agents to a Mr A B Jackson of Lincoln’s Inn, 

refers to enclosing the illustrated particulars and offering an order to view – the 

freehold price was £45,000.  The subsequent history of the house is summarised 

above in Section 2 of the Main Report.  Regrettably, no conclusive evidence has 

come to light as to what further internal alteration took place and when.  There is 

also the unresolved question as to when and why the drastic internal alterations, 

involving demolition of the chimneystacks and simplification of the roof gables 

occurred.  On one point of detail, the SBA is in error.  The document states that the 

circular recess projecting from the Drawing Room was added after 1910: in fact it 

shows up clearly on the photographs in the 1909/10 sales brochures, and was 

described in that document.  Later internal alterations of some significance certainly 

occurred during the interwar period, as revealed in my site inspection, but the 

Camden Archives contain no further sales particulars or other material to elucidate 

this. 
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APPENDIX MMN 

Articles from The Builder 

British Architectural Library RIBA 
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MMN1, 2 Engraved Perspective and Plan, from The Builder 18 June 1870.  The building as 
completed in 1872 differed in detail from these preliminary designs. 
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MMN3. Completed west elevation and conservatory, The Builder 1/06/1872  
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MMN4. Description from The Builder 18 June 1870 
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MMN5. Description of the completed house from The Builder 1 June 1872 
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MMN6. Description from The Estates Gazette, 20 August 1909 
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APPENDIX MMP 

Building Inspection 

photographs 
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MMP1 I have included a selection of photographs from inspections which took 
place between 2007-16. The earliest benchmark the state of the building ‘as 

found’ immediately following my appointment, which can be summarised 
below. 

 
 Photographs from February and May 2007 reveal the depleted and 

dilapidated state of the building. 

 
 Most chimneys had been truncated; 

 
 The crenellations and ornamental finials of the tower and porch had 

been removed; 

 
 All of the elaborate Dutch gables had been rebuilt in simplified form; 

 
 Gothic traceried window heads had been removed; 

 

 Aluminium frames had been substituted for timber in the large 
mullioned windows. 

 
The ground floor of the rear elevation of the building was butchered by 

demolition of the conservatory and kitchen wings.  
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MMP1, 2 The East and South Elevations in May 2007   
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MMP3, 4 South Elevation in 2007 showing simplified gable and turret. The railings 

around the bay window roof at right are simplified substitutes. 
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MMP5,6. Turning from the South to the West Elevation, the surviving group of full 

height chimneys are clearly visible behind the cupola roof on the lower photograph  
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MMP 7, 8 ‘Hospital alterations’ and the scars of demolition on the North Elevation, 

photographed in February 2007. The arched profile of the conservatory is clearly 

visible on the lower photograph.  
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MMP9,10 Economy balustrade, simplified gable and eroded stonework of the South 

Elevation. The ‘peacock and foliage’ panel above the window has further deteriorated 

since 2007.  
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MMP11,12 Decay of Morning Room windows, particularly mullions on South Elevation 

 

 
 

MMP13, 14 Eroded ornamental stonework on Porte Cochere 
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MMP15, 16 Original First Floor balcony balustrade on West Elevation  

 

 
MMP17 Cement patched and decayed stonework of Billiard Room bay window 
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MMP18, 19 Simplified (1920s) screen in Entrance Hall and Tudor Arch on landing 

 

 
MMP20, 21 Detail of staircase, the major intact historic internal feature 
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MMP22, 23 1920s plasterwork in Drawing Room, compare original décor in MMJ, MML, MMN 

 

 
MMP24, Stripped interior of Billiard/Morning room, compare with period views in MMM, MMN 
MMP25, below, stripped bedrooms as geriatric ward 
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MMP26, 27 Entrance from Porte Cochere and Ante Hall with fireplace and dado, cut profiled 
joists and carved stone corbel blocks (painted over). 

 

 

 
 

MMP28 Derelict and vandalised attic servants’ bedroom 
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MMP29 View from the West Garden, 1881 

 

 
MMP30 The same view in February 2007 
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MMP31 The Gate House, August 2012.  

 
MMP32 Rustic porch of The Gate House, August 2012: this faced the original 

entrance from Hampstead Lane The porch originally faced the Hampstead Lane 

access (see 1870 map, MMH1) 
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MMP33 The Gate House above the boundary wall in August 2012; the widened joint 

access with Caenwood Court is at the left (it originated with Caen Wood Towers 

about 1872, together with a further access east of the new stable bock) 

 

 
MMP34 The boundary wall (August 2012) connects to the north gable of Caen 

Cottage. There is evidence for a pedestrian gate following walling across the 1870 

access (which originally served Fitzroy House – see Map MMH1)  
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MMP35 North elevation of Caen Cottage above boundary wall: the various additions 

all predate 1948. 

 

 
MMQ36 East elevation of Caen Cottage from within the Athlone House site 
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MMP37 Grand staircase August 2014  

 

 
 

MMP38 Grand staircase March 2016 
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MMP39 Library (August 2014) to be opened out into Family Dining, with removal of 

fittings, but retention of fireplace 

 

 
 

MMP40 Simplified landing beneath reconstructed roof, post 1948 (August 2014) 
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MMP41 Post 1948 reconstructed flat roof over landing (August 2014) 

 

 
 

MMP42 Profile of demolished roof (post 1948)and change to London stock brickwork 

in original attic space on rear wall of tower (August 2014) 
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MMP43 Cluster of original chimneys behind cupola (August 2014). A glimpse of the 

‘Beaver’ weather vane can be seen projecting from the cupola roof. The fretted ridge 

tiles may have been recently replaced, probably within the last 20 years.  
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MMP44 Pavilion extension c. early 1900s (August 2014) to be demolished as 

approved in 2005 

 

 
 

MMP45  Detail of copper roof of pavilion (August 2014) 
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MMP 46 Dining Room looking into bay window; note painted boarded ceiling (March 

2016) 

 

 
 

MMP 47 Original state of ceiling, preserved above later corridor (March 2016) 
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MMP48  Exterior of Great stair showing use of London Stock Bricks. The ground floor 

buildings are to be cleared to create the atrium and the external well in which the 

window wall will be exposed (March 2016) 
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MMP49 Roundel on north gable with anchor (all modelled by J B Philip) (March 2016) 

 

 
 

MMP50 Base of oriel window on north elevation with carved animals (March 2016) 
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MMP51 Flaking stonework and carving on porte cochere (March 2016) 

 

 
 

MMP52 Fretted stone planter at base of outer face of porte cochere (March 2016) 
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MMP 53 Eroded ‘Peacock and Foliage’ panel above right hand first floor window, 

south elevation, compare with MMP 9, 10 above (March 2016) 

 

 
 

MMP54 Carved boss at base of cupola tower south elevation (March 2016) 
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MMP55 Painted carved stone corbel in Lobby (March 2016) 

 

 
 

MMP56 Two carved corbels in the Great Hall (all modelled by J B Philip) (March 2016) 
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MMP57 Carved foliate corbel in west corridor (March 2016) 

 

 
 

MMP58 Carved corbel with Edward Brooke’s (original client’s) initials (March 2016) 
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APPENDIX MMQ 

Caen Wood Towers in 1948 
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Caen Wood Towers in 1948 
 

MMQ1. In order to provide a benchmark for establishing the area of 
Athlone house to be taken into account to demonstrate that the 

proposed extensions are not inappropriate para.89 of the NPPF cites 
several exceptions to the general ruling that the construction of new 
buildings in the Green Belt should be regarded as inappropriate. These 

exceptions include ‘the extension of a building provided that it does 
not result in disproportionate additions over and above the original 

size of the building. 
 
MMQ2. As Athlone House, the building received extensive prefabricated 

wards during the 1960s. These were demolished as a requirement of 
the 2005/6 planning permission which authorised the construct of the 

Caenwood Court flats. In addition extensive parts of Athlone House 
were demolished, including the original rear service wings and a large 
two storey service wing which was constructed in 1934/5 by Waley-

Cohen, owner of Caen Wood Towers until the 1950s.  
 

MMQ3. The ‘original building’ is that which existed on 1 July 1948, the 
appointed day of the Town and Country Planning Act 1947. From that 

date, the building could be used for its original use in its original form. 
Changes of use and extensions required planning permission. At that 
time, the changes were linked to enhancement of value by 

development and the requirement of the Act to recoup 100% of any 
enhanced value or betterment.  

 
MMQ4. The ‘original building’ has been affirmed by the existence of 

Royal Air Force aerial surveys showing Caen Wood Towers dating from 

April 1947 and February 1949 (now in the Historic England Archives). 
This has enabled a diagram to be prepared from the plan of Caen 

Wood Towers from the 1881 sales prospectus, annotated to show what 
was in existence on 1 July 1948. Scans of the diagram and the 
photographs follow. These photographs are reproduced under licence 

from Historic England. 
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1. DIAGRAM SHOWING EXTENT OF BUILDING 01/07/1948 
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2. CAEN WOOD TOWERS AND EASTERN GROUNDS 29/04/1947 
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3. CAEN WOOD TOWERS, GROUNDS AND STABLE FIELD (KENWOOD)   
24/07/1947 
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4. CAEN WOOD TOWERS AND HIGHGATE SCHOOL PLAYING FIELDS 22/02/1949 

 


